
Supreme Court No. 93544-1 

RECEIVED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
CLERK'S OFFICE 
Sep 21, 2016, 2:49 pm 

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THOMAS A. LUNSCHEN, Petitioner, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al., 

Respondent. 

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW 

ISABEL A. M. COLE, WSBA #46766 
TACOMA INJURY LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. 

A Professional Services Corporation 
Attorneys at Law 
3848 S. Junett St. 

Tacoma, W A 98409 
P.O. Box 1113 

Tacoma, W A 98401 
Ph: (253) 472-8566 

Fax: (253) 475-1221 
Isabel@tacomainjurylawgroup.com 

Attorney for Petitioner, Thom~ut1:et1 G F, ~ ~ i =:: { i' ~ ~ " I ; 'c.· f.~; 
. I l j b \liA \,_ 



Table of Contents 

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER ....................................................................... 1 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS ....................................................................................... 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW .................................................................................... 1 

I. Whether the issuance of a "lighting up" jury instruction requires an injured worker to 
be "asymptomatic," and if so, for how long prior to the industrial 
injury? ............................................................................................................................... 1 
II Whether the issuance of an "ordinary incidents of everyday living" jury instruction 
under McDougle, requires an injured worker to have previously been awarded a 
Permanent Partial Disability ...................................................................... 1 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ................................................................................................. 2 

I. Factual Background ............................................................................................... 2 

II. Procedural History ................................................................................................. 4 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED .................................................... 6 

I. This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict regarding the "lighting up" 
doctrine ........................................................................................ 7 

II. This Court should accept review to resolve the conflict regarding the application 
of the McDougle/Scott Paper decisions ................................................. 15 

F. CONCLUSION ....................................................................................................................... 20 

ii 



Table of Authorities 

A. Washington Cases 

Bennett v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 
95 Wn.2d 531, 627 P.2d 104 (1981) ... ............................................................. 9 

Cooper v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 
188 Wn.App. 641, 352 P.3d 189 (2015) . ............................................ 6, 12, 13, 15 

Dennis v. Dep 't. of Labor and Indus., 
109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987) .................................................. 6, 10, 13 

Department of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley 
171 Wn. App. 870, 288 P.3d 390 (2012) 
review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1006, 300 P.3d 415 (2013) ...... ........................... 6, 15, 17 

Dobbins v Commonwealth Aluminum Corp., · 
54 Wn.App. 788, 776 P.2d 139,(1989) .......... ......................................... 6, 11, 13 

Harbor Plywood Corp. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 
48 Wn. 2d 553, 295 P.2d 310 (1956) .............................................................. 8 

Jacobson v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 
37 Wn. 2d 444, 224 P.2d 338 (1950) ......................................................................... 6, 7, 8 

Lunschen v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 
72763-01-I, 2015 WL 1034319 (Wash. Ct. App. March 9, 2015) .................... passim 

McDonagh v. Dep't. ofLabor &Indus., 
68 Wn. App. 749, 845 P.2d 1030 (1993) .... .................................................... 11 

McDougle v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 
64 Wn.2d 640, 393 P.2d 631 (1964) ... ................................................... passim 

Miller v. Dep 't. of Labor and Indus., 
200 Wash. 674, 682, 94 P. 2d 764 (1939) . ...................................................... 7 

Scott Paper Co. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 
73 Wn.2d 840, 440 P.2d 818 (1968) . ............................................... 6, 15, 16,17 

Tomlinson v. Puget Sound Freight Lines, Inc., 
166 Wn.2d 105, 206 P.3d 657 (2009) ......................................................... .12 

Wendt v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 
18 Wn.App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 (1977) ...................................................... 9, 11 

iii 



Zavala v. Twin City Foods, 
185 Wn.App. 838, 343 P.3d 761 (2015) ...................................................... 6, 12 

Zipp v. Seattle School District No. 1, 
36 Wn. App. 598, 676 P.2d 538 (1984) ..................................................... 10, 11 

B. Regulations and Rules 

RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2) and (4) .................................................................................. 6 

RAP 18.1 ...................................................................................................... 20 

iv 



A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER(S) 

Petitioner Thomas A. Lunschen, (Hereinafter Lunschen) the 

petitioner in the Court of Appeals proceeding below, hereby petitions the 

Supreme Court ofthe State ofWashington and seeks review of the opinions, 

findings, and decisions designated in Section B, below. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS 

Lunschen respectfully requests that this Court review the decision 

ofthe Court of Appeals ofthe State ofWashington, Division II, inLunschen 

v. Dep't of Labor &Indus., 47483-2-II, 2016 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2016), 

which affirmed the judgment of the Superior Court where a jury affirmed 

the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (hereinafter "Board"), which 

affirmed the Department of Labor and Industries' (hereinafter 

"Department") denial ofLunschen's aggravation application. A copy of the 

unpublished opinion is attached at Exhibit 1. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. Whether the issuance of a "lighting up" jury instruction requires an 

injured worker to be "asymptomatic," and if so, for how long prior to the 

industrial injury? 

II. Whether the issuance of an "ordinary incidents of everyday living" 

jury instruction under McDougle, requires an injured worker to have 

previously been awarded a Permanent Partial Disability. 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Factual Background 

On January 17, 2005, Lunschen suffered an industrial injury when, 

while shoveling concrete out of a Bobcat bucket, he felt pain and a pinch. 

(CP 98-99) An MRI showed Lunschen had some degenerative changes, 

throughout the spine, and annular tearing at lA-L5 and L5-S 1 discs with 

protrusion, with the one at L5-S1 being more prominent on the left. (CP 

189) Annular tearing can create leaking of hyaluronic acid out of the disc 

which causes the immune system to swell at that site; and it can cause the 

disc to become misshapen and bulge or extrude. (CP 190) Lunschen's 

bulging discs caused encroachment as well as chemical irritation. (CP 190) 

After a couple months of treatment, Lunschen continued to 

experience stiffness in his low back with limited lumbar motion, but on 

March 30th, 2005, Dr. Kaczmarski noted improvement of75 to 80 percent. 

(CP 136) Despite continued symptoms, Lunschen asked Dr. Kaczmarski to 

release him to work so he would not lose his job. (CP 1 02) On April1, 2005, 

Lunschen returned to work, restricting himself to light duty initially, but he 

continued chiropractic treatment until May 7, 2005, and massage therapy 

until May 14, 2005. (CP 136) On June 1, 2005 Dr. Kaczmarski released 
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Lunschen to return to work with no permanent impairment rating. (CP 136-

137). 

On May 29, 2012, Lunschen was working in his garden with a 

garden implement called a "claw" when he felt his back "slip out. (CP 1 02) 

The following day, he was unable to get out of bed, but due to a lack of 

health insurance, he delayed getting treatment. ( CP 1 02) Believing his back 

had been inflamed from his old injury, he called the Department and, after 

being informed his claim from 2005 was still open, he called Dr. 

Kaczmarski who agreed to see him. (CP 102, 125) 

Dr. Kaczmarski, who treated Lunschen 27 times over four months 

for his 2005 industrial injury, saw him 42 more times after the aggravation 

in 2012. (CP 195-196) The degenerative changes revealed in the x-ray of 

Lunschen in 2005 had progressed with narrowing of the disc space heights 

from the top of the lumbar spine, Ll, through the bottom of the lumbar 

spine, Sl. (CP 140) Dr. Kaczmarski testified that, on a more probable than 

not medical basis, Lunschen's current symptoms were a result of his 2005 

injury of a low back strain, low back pain, and radiating left side pain. (CP 

203) 

Dr. Zoltani, a medical examiner hired by the Department, testified 

that Lunschen suffered an acute onset of worsened symptoms in 2012. (CP 

241-242) Dr. Tanner and Dr. Zoltani both agreed that Lunschen's condition 
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had worsened, but they attributed that worsening to the incident in the 

garden rather than to an aggravation ofLunschen's 2005 industrial injury. 

(CP 150) 

Dr. H. Richard Johnson, who examined Lunschen, opined on a more 

probable than not medical basis that: Lunschen did sustain a lumbar 

strain/sprain injury; there was aggravation or "lighting up" of preexisting 

diffuse lumbar spondylosis (degenerative changes) in the lumbar spine; 

there was evidence of annular tears at L4-L5 and L5-S 1 levels; and there 

were findings consistent with left lumbar radiculopathy. (CP 155) 

Dr. Johnson explained that a 1989 industrial injury that Lunschen 

had suffered led to post-traumatic asymmetric changes ofhis degenerative 

disc disease; then the 2005 industrial injury caused further post-traumatic 

asymmetric progression of those degenerative changes (going from mild 

prior to 2005 to moderate to severe after the 2005 injury). (CP 170). This 

progression predisposed Lunschen to aggravation of his low back condition 

with less stress than if that injury had not occurred. (CP 170) 

II. Procedural History 

Lunschen sustained an industrial injury while in the course of his 

employment on January 17, 2005. The claim was allowed on February 1, 

2005 and closed on June 9, 2005 with no Permanent Partial Disability 

rating. On June 6, 2012 Lunschen applied to reopen his claim for an 
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aggravation that occurred on May 29, 2012. On August 21, 2012 the 

Department denied the reopening application. On September 21, 2012 

Lunschen protested the denial through his attorney. On September 28, 2012 

the Department held the closing order in abeyance for reconsideration. On 

January 4, 2013 the Department affirmed the closure. On January 10, 2013 

Lunschen's treating Chiropractor, Dr. Kaczmarski, protested the closure 

and on February 26, 2013 Lunschen appealed the closure through his 

attorney. On March 12, 2013 the .Board granted the appeal and a hearing 

before the Board was held on October 16, 2013. On February 20, 2014 

Industrial Appeals Judge Greg J. Duras Affirmed the Department order. 

Lunschen filed a Petition for Review on April3, 2014 which was denied on 

Apri122, 2014. Lunschen filed an appeal with Pierce County Superior Court 

on May 15, 2014. Lunschen filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which 

was heard and denied by Judge Martin on February 20, 2015. Trial 

commenced on March 9, 2015, and on March 11, 2015 the jury rendered a 

verdict in favor of the Department. Final judgment from the Court was 

entered on March 27, 2015. Lunschen appealed to Division II of the Court 

of Appeals on April 22, 2015. Oral arguments were heard on June 28, 2016 

and Division II released its decision August 2, 2016. This Petition for 

Review results from that decision. 
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E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A petition for review may be accepted by this Court if the decision 

of the Court of Appeals (1) conflicts with another decision of the Supreme 

Court; (2) conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if 

the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4). 

This Court should review this matter for two reasons. First, Division 

II's decision in this matter, and reliance on Cooper v. Dep 't. of Labor & 

Indus., 188 Wn.App. 641, 352 P.3d 189 (2015), conflicts with this Court's 

decision in Dennis v. Dep 't. of Labor and Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 

1295 (1987), and Division III's decision in Dobbins v Commonwealth 

Aluminum Corp., 54 Wn.App. 788,793,776 P.2d 139 (1989). Additionally, 

Division II's reliance on Zavala v. Twin City Foods, 185 Wn.App. 838, 343 

P.3d 761 (2015) conflicts with this Court's decision in Jacobson v. Dep't of 

Labor & Indus., 37 Wn. 2d 444, 224 P.2d 338 (1950). 

Second, Division II's decision in this matter and reliance on The 

Dep 't. of Labor and Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn.App. 870, 288 P .3d 390 

(2012) conflicts with this Court's decision in McDougle v. Dep 't .. of Labor 

&Indus., 64 Wn.2d 640,393 P.2d 631 (1964), and Scott Paper Co. v. Dep't 

of Labor & Indus., 73 Wn.2d 840, 440 P.2d 818 (1968) and, as a result 
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Division II erred when it affirmed the Superior Court's refusal to give Mr. 

Lunschen's jury instruction on "ordinary incidents of everyday living." 

I. This Court should grant · review to resolve the conflict 
regarding the "lighting up" doctrine. 

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict between its 

many decisions on the "lighting up" doctrine, and the lower courts' 

conflicting decisions that require a pre-existing condition to be completely 

asymptomatic to qualify for a "lighting up" instruction. The "lighting up" 

theory was memorialized by this Court in 1939. 

[I]f an injury, within the statutory meaning lights up or 
makes active a latent or quiescent infirmity or weakened 
physical condition occasioned by disease, then the resulting 
disability is to be attributed to the injury, and not to the 
preexisting physical condition ... If this be true with respect 
to a weakened physical condition, resulting from disease, it 
must likewise be true with respect to a similar infirmity 
resulting from structural weakness of the body 

Miller v. Dep 't. of Labor and Indus., 200 Wash. 674,94 P. 2d 764 (1939). 

In 1950 this Court determined that an injury that lit up a worker's 

pre-existing schizophrenia was compensable: 

If this injury resulted in a recurrence of respondent's 
schizophrenia, there can be no doubt about his right to 
recover . . . Whether the infirmity might possibly have 
resulted in eventual disability or death, even without the 
injury is immaterial upon the question of the Department's 
liability under the Workmen's Compensation Act. 

Jacobson v. Dep't of Labor &Indus., 37 Wn. 2d 444,224 P.2d 338 (1950). 
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In 1956 this Court reiterated the Jacobson premise when it found 

that the Claimant's pre-existing testicular cancer was accelerated by the 

industrial injury causing its spread, and eventually the death of the 

Claimant. "Pre-existing disease or infirmity of the employee does not 

disqualify a claim under the "arising out of employment' requirement if the 

employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or 

infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is 

sought." Harbor Plywood Corp. v. Dep 't of Labor &Indus., 48 Wn. 2d 553, 

295 P.2d 310 (1956). 

However, in 1971 Division III upheld the lower court's refusal to 

give a "lighting up" instruction. In its decision it focused on the latency of 

the pre-existing condition, stating: "this testimony does not state the 

preexisting condition was latent or inactive ... further, ... the condition was 

a naturally progressing condition and would have progressed naturally 

without the injury." Austin v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 6 Wn.App. 394, 492 

P.2d 1382 (1971) Austin conflicts with this Court's holding in Jacobson, 

however, Austin set a standard for denying "lighting-up" instructions in 

later Courts of Appeal decisions. 

Conversely, six years later, Division II determined that the pre­

existing condition's role in the Claimant's disability was an issue of fact for 
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ultimate resolution by the jury, so the lower court should have given the 

"lighting up" instruction . 

. . . a jury oflay persons might well consider the "lighting up" 
theory esoteric, to say the least. In such a case the law should 
be explicated by the judge in particular terms to insure that 
the jury grasps its subtleties. Finally, far from involving a 
mere fringe or subordinate issue, the requested instruction 
embodied the gist or substance of Wendt's claim. When such 
a key issue is involved, a correctly worded and particularized 
instruction should be given, and general instructions such as 
the court gave here will not suffice." 

Wendt v. Dep't. of Labor & Indus.,18 Wn.App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 
(1977). 

In 1981, this Court held that the application of the "lighting up" 

doctrine rested more on how disabling the pre-existing condition was, rather 

than whether it was merely "symptomatic," finding: 

Upon this evidence, including the lay testimony that there 
was little or no disability prior to the injury, the jury was 
justified in finding that the petitioner, at the time of the 1973 
injury, was suffering from a preexisting weakness, rendering 
him more susceptible to injury than others, but that for a 
number of years prior to that event, it had not been disabling. 
Accordingly, the extent of the petitioner's disability having 
been established by the medical testimony, the finding of the 
jury that the entire disability resulted from the 1973 injury 
was supported by the evidence and should have been 
sustained. 

Bennettv. Dep't. ofLabor &Indus., 95 Wn.2d 531,627 P.2d 104 (1981). 

However, three years later, Division I again whittled down this 

Court's holding when it found, "there is no testimony that the preexisting 
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condition was latent or inactive, testimony that is necessary to trigger the 

"lighting up doctrine" as a theory of liability." Zipp v. Seattle School 

District No.1, 36 Wn. App. 598,676 P.2d 538 (1984). 

This Court responded in 1987 when it touched on the symptomatic-

asymptomatic debate. 

Where a claimant establishes a disease-based disability 
arising naturally and proximately out of employment, we are 
inclined to view the "symptomatic-asymptomatic" issue in 
terms of whether segregation rules apply, rather than to 
perceive a bar to any award if a preexisting disease was 
symptomatic prior to work-related aggravation of that 
disease. 

Dennis v. Dep't. of Labor and Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 
(1987) (emphasis added). 

Declining to resolve the symptomatic-asymptomatic issue this Court 

continued, 

[I]n any event, r. we need not resolve the "symptomatic­
asymptomatic" issue in this case because the uncontroverted 
medical testimony established that the osteoarthritis in 
Dennis' wrists became symptomatic and disabling as a result 
of repetitive tin snipping. While the osteoarthritis manifested 
itself elsewhere in Dennis' body, we are here concerned only 
with the disabled condition of his wrists and the medical 
testimony respecting that condition. 

Jd at 476. 

Subsequently, Division III also recognized that a condition can be 

intermittently symptomatic without negating the possibility that the 

condition can be "lit up" by an industrial injury. It remanded the case despite 
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the doctor testifying that the Claimant, "developed an occasionally 

symptomatic right knee condition, which in 1985 became persistently 

symptomatic to the point where he has not been without discomfort since 

my initial evaluation of him in April of 1985." Dobbins v Commonwealth 

Aluminum Corp., 54 Wn.App. 788, 793, 776 P.2d 139 (1989}. 

Division I continued this liberal construction in 1993. The Claimant 

argued that there was substantial evidence to give a "lighting up" 

instruction, citing Wendt. The Department argued that the lighting-up 

doctrine was inapplicable absent a diagnosable pre-existing latent or 

asymptomatic medical condition, citing Zipp. Division I found: 

[C]ontrary to the Department's claim, there is no 
prerequisite that there be a "diagnosed" or "pre-existing" 
condition ... The fact that a biological pre-disposition for the 
development of a mental illness is the type of case 
encompassed by the lighting-up theory is exemplified by our 
court's use of such terms as "infirmity" or "weakness" to 
describe pre-existing conditions. " 

McDonagh v. Dep't. ofLabor &Indus., 68 Wn. App. 749,845 P.2d 1030 
(1993). 

In 2009 this Court, acknowledging that older workers are more 

likely to have degenerative conditions, held that there must be some 

indication that the pre-existing condition had a substantial effect on the 

worker's function before it would reduce a worker's PPD award, stating: 

A worker's PPD cannot be reduced merely because x-rays 
reveal preexisting degenerative arthritic changes. In order to 
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be an offsetting preexisting PPD, the preexisting PPD's 
impact on function must be substantial and permanent. 

Tomlinson v. Puget Sound Freight Lines, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 105, 206 P .3d 
657 (2009) (emphasis added). 

Conversely, in 2015, both Division III and Division II held that the 

there was no abuse of discretion in refusing the "lighting up" instruction 

because of the symptomatic-asymptomatic distinction. In February, 

Division III, citing Austin, stated, "a pre-existing condition is not lit-up if 

the weight of the evidence reveals: 1) that the condition was symptomatic 

before the workplace event, or 2) the condition was a naturally progressing 

condition that would have progressed to symptoms without the injury." 

Zavala v. Twin City Foods, 185 Wn.App. 838, 343 P.3d 761 (2015). In 

April, Division II also refused the "lighting up" instruction because the 

Claimant had a pre-existing spinal fusion that was expected to worsen his 

back condition over time. The court felt this demonstrated his back 

problems were symptomatic prior to his injury. See Cooper v. Dep 't. of 

Labor & Indus., 188 Wn.App. 641, 352 P.3d 189 (2015). 

These decisions show the conflict between this Court's decisions 

liberally construing the "lighting up" doctrine, and the Courts of Appeals' 

decisions attempting to narrow its application. The Austin decision in 1971 

by Division III continues to be cited in later Courts of Appeals' decisions 
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as a basis to deny the "lighting up" instruction despite intervening decisions 

by this Court suggesting a broader application of that doctrine. 

Here, Division II upheld the Superior Court's refusal of a "lighting 

up" instruction, citing the holding in Cooper as a basis for its decision: 

"claimant is entitled to [the] jury instruction where the evidence supports 

that (1) the preexisting condition was latent, not symptomatic, and (2) the 

industrial injury proximately caused the current disability, regardless of a 

preexisting condition." Lunschen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 47483-2-II, 

2016 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2016). However, in Dennis this Court found 

that a claimant's eligibility for an award did not necessarily turn on whether 

the pre-existing condition was symptomatic. And in Dobbins, Division III 

concluded there was enough information to create a question of fact about 

"lighting up" even though the condition had been ·occasionally 

symptomatic. Both of these rulings conflict with the first element in the 

Cooper rule. 

Furthermore, the second element ofthe Cooper rule used in this case 

is contrary to the entire theory of "lighting up." The "lighting up" doctrine 

is based on the premise that the injury acted upon a pre-existing condition 

to create the disability. If the industrial injury must proximately cause the 

disability without regard to a pre-existing condition as stated in number 2 

above, then it undercuts the entire theory of the "lighting up" doctrine. 
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Division II found that Lunschen did not provide evidence to support 

a "lighting up" instruction. Lunschen disagrees; he is arguing two separate 

theories of "lighting up," and has provided evidence for both. First, Dr. 

Johnson testified, that the 1989 injury created a weakened condition that 

was predisposed to re-injury. Dr. Kaczmarski explained how the leaking of 

hyaluronic acid could weaken that area. Then, the 2005 injury to that same 

general area of the back further pre-disposed Lunschen to injury, making 

the incident in his garden much more likely to aggravate his weakened 

condition. The "weakened condition" element of the "lighting up" doctrine 

supports this theory. 

Second, Dr. Johnson testified the 1989 injury caused post-traumatic, 

asymmetrical degeneration in Lunschen's back. Then the injury in 2005 

accelerated that post-traumatic, asymmetrical degeneration further, pre­

disposing Lunschen to aggravation of his low back injury with less stress. 

Dr. Johnson, Dr. Tanner, and Dr. Zoltani agreed that the degeneration in 

Lunschen's back had gone from mild prior to the 2005 injury; to moderate­

severe after the 2005 injury. The aggravation of a "latent quiescent infirmity 

or disease" element of the "lighting up" doctrine supports this theory. 

Furthennore, as a matter substantial public interest, laborers like 

Lunschen use their bodies as tools to earn a living. Hard labor means sore 

muscles and occasional missed work. If an injured worker has to show that 
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he never had pain from a previous industrial injury prior to applying for a 

reopening based on the "lighting up" doctrine, it makes that doctrine 

inaccessible to the vast majority of laborers. And if the worker is only 

allowed to be occasionally symptomatic, for how long must that worker be 

asymptomatic prior to the industrial injury? To use occasional sore muscles 

as a basis for denying Lunschen even the ability to argue that his work injury 

"lit up" his underlying degenerative condition is contrary to the entire 

purpose behind Title 51. 

Division II's application of the Cooper decision in making a 

determination in this case, and the Cooper decision itself, has gone so far 

afield of the intent and baseline case law of the "lighting up" doctrine, that 

this Court should accept review of this case to resolve once and for all the 

conflicts between this Court and the Courts of Appeal on the application of 

the "lighting up" doctrine under Title 51. 

II. This Court should accept review to resolve the conflict 
regarding the application of the McDougle/Scott Paper decision. 

This Court should accept review to resolve the conflict between the 

courts regarding the decision in McDougle/Scott Paper as to the definition 

of disability, as well as the application of McDougle in the Shirley decision 

in Division I which interprets it to require a claimant to have a Permanent 

Partial Disability to argue aggravation of an industrial injury through 
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"ordinary incidents of everyday living," and Division Il's decision in the 

instant case. 

In McDougle this Court held that the determination of whether an 

out-of-work incident was an aggravation of an industrial injury or a 

superseding, intervening injury turned on the reasonableness of the activity 

in light of the "disability" caused by the industrial injury. 

Aggravation of the claimant's condition caused by the 
ordinary incidents of living--by work which he could be 
expected to do; by sports or activities in which he could be 
expected to participate--is compensable because it is 
attributable to the condition caused by the original injury ... 
The test to be applied, in cases such as the present, is whether 
the activity which caused the aggravation is something that 
the claimant might reasonably be expected to be doing, or 
whether it is something that one with his disability would 
not reasonably be expected to be doing." 

McDougle v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 64 Wn.2d 640, 393 P.2d 631 (1964) 
(emphasis added). 

After remand, McDougle eventually returned to this Court in Scott 

Paper. The Department determined that Mr. McDougle's activity was 

unreasonable because he "knew or should have reasonably known, of the 

danger in lifting sacks of ground feed and that such act was an activity he 

should not have engaged in ... " Scott Paper Co. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 

73 Wn.2d 840, 440 P.2d 818 (1968). This Court then clarified that the 

meaning of disability was a Department established disability, 
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It is thus apparent that, in construing the test we set forth in 
McDougle ... when we said, 'whether it is something that 
one with his Disability would not reasonably be expected to 
be doing' they have mistakenly assumed we were speaking 
of claimant's subjective personally known condition as of the 
date of the aggravation instead of the department-established 
disability, i.e. 30 per cent permanent partial disability. 

Id at 847-848. 

In interpreting these decisions, some courts have determined that 

they were intended to define disability as an award of a Permanent Partial 

disability (hereinafter PPD), and that McDougle is only applicable to those 

Claimants whose claims close with a PPD. Evidence of this interpretation 

is in a finding in a 2012 Division I case: "Scott Paper clarified that the 

McDougle rule is applied only as it relates to reasonableness in light of a 

previously established disability. Here, Mr. Shirley had no department-

established disability when his claim closed." The Dep 't. of Labor and 

Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn.App. 870,288 P.3d 390 (2012). 

Lunschen argues that McDougle was not intended to restrict the 

reasonableness test to only those workers with PPD awards. Rather, the 

mention of the PPD award was merely one example of a Department 

established disability, and the case was intended to illustrate that 

reasonableness of an activity should not be determined based on a worker's 

own subjective knowledge of his condition on a day to day basis. This is 

highlighted through the fact that in Scott Paper this Court defined disability 
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as "The impairment of the workman's mental or physical efficiency. It 

embraces any loss of physical or mental functions which detracts from 

the former efficiency of the individual in the ordinary pursuits of life." Id at 

842 (emphasis added). 

The definition of a disability is not limited to a PPD. The 

Department establishes disability in many ways- through acceptance of 

conditions, or through awards such as permanent total disability, temporary 

total disability, or permanent partial disability. It is inaccurate to say that a 

PPD award is the only "department established disability." Evidence of this 

is also in the case law cited by this Court in McDougle. It was replete with 

injured workers, not all of whom were recipients of PPD's, and the 

determination as to whether or not their behavior on the date of the 

aggravation was deemed to be reasonable did not turn on that distinction. 

This shows the McDougle Court did not intend for a PPD award to be 

required to apply the McDougle reasonableness test. 

Additionally, as argued before Division II, monetary awards for a 

PPD for lumbosacral impairment begin at 5% disability or Category 2. A 

closing order only lists a PPD award if the disability has risen to that level 

of impairment, therefore, a person could actually be determined to be 1%-

4% impaired (Category 1) and that would never be codified because it has 

not risen to the level required to trigger a monetary award. 
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Finally, a PPD is not required to file for reopening of a claim. Many 

workers recover from an injury, their claims are closed without a PPD, then 

they worsen over time, and eventually they have their claims reopened. 

Some go on to recover a second time without a PPD and some worsen to 

the point where they are then awarded a PPD. A PPD award has no bearing 

upon whether the worker's already accepted condition can worsen through 

ordinary incidents of everyday living, and then become disabling, it is 

merely an acknowledgement at the time of claim closure that the worker's 

injury has already permanently affected the worker's functionality. 

If the McDougle reasonableness test is not applied to all injured 

workers, it restricts allowance of an out-of-work aggravation of a claim to 

only those workers who received a PPD. The finder of fact is capable of 

looking at the Department accepted condition(s), whether or not there was 

a PPD, the testimony of the experts with regard to the physical condition of 

the Claimant at claim closure and the condition after the out-of-work 

incident, to determine whether the Claimant's activity aggravated his work 

related condition, or was a superseding injury. However, the jury needs to 

be advised of the appropriate law in order to accurately make that 

determination. 

In the present case, Division II held that Lunschen was not entitled 

to the McDougle instruction because whether or not he had a "condition" 
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was a disputed fact. Lunschen asserts that is not the case. His industrial 

injury in 2005 was accepted by the Department as a low back sprain/strain, 

and that became his Department established condition. When he was out of 

work during treatment, he was a Temporarily Totally Disabled worker; that 

was his condition at that time. The jury, if instructed properly, is free to 

determine that the lack of a PPD is enough to dissuade them from finding 

the aggravation is related to the original injury. However, if they are not 

instructed properly on the law, they cannot reach that determination based 

upon the applicable law. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth supra, without wmver of issues or 

arguments made in the lower courts and made herein, including but not 

limited to attorney fees and expenses, the Petitioner, Lunschen respectfully 

requests that this Court grant this petition for review. See RAP 18.1. 

Respectfully submitted this J I "iray of September, 2016. 

I A EL A. M. C , SBA# 46766 
Tacoma Injury Law Gr up, Inc. P.S. 
3848 S. Junett St., Tacoma, W A 98409 
P.O. Box 1113, Tacoma, WA 98401 
Telephone: (253) 472-8566 
Fax: (253) 475-1221 
E-mail: Isabel@tacomainjurylawgroup.com 

Attorney for Petitioner, Thomas A. Lunschen 
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Washington State 
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Division Two 

August 2, 2016 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

THOMAS A. LUNSCHEN, No. 47483-2-II 

Appellant, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND UNPUBLISHED OPINION 
INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF 
WASHINGTON, 

Res ondent. 

MELNICK, J.-Thomas Lunschen appeals from a jury verdict affirming the Department of 

Labor and Industries' (L&I) denial of his request to reopen an industrial injury insurance claim 

due to aggravation. 1 Because substantial evidence supports the jury's verdict, and the superior 

court did not abuse its discretion by declining to give Lunschen's proposed jury instructions, we 

affirm the superior court. 2 

1 L&I denied the claim. The Board of Industrial Appeals (the Board) affirmed the denial and 
entered findings of fact. Lunschen appealed to the superior court where a jury affirmed the denial. 

2 In Lunschen's notice of appeal and assignments of error, he appeals the Board's findings 
of fact and conclusions of law, the superior court's judgment, the superior court's order denying 
summary judgment, and all adverse rulings of the superior court during the trial. Some of these 
are not appealable. We do not review the Board's findings of fact and conclusions of law directly, 
but instead, review whether the verdict at the superior court was supported by substantial evidence. 
Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. App. 174, 180,210 P.3d 355 (2009). Furthermore, 
we do not review the order denying summary judgment. An order denying summary judgment, 
based on a determination that material facts were in dispute, cannot be appealed following a trial. 
Kaplan v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 115 Wn. App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16 (2003). 
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FACTS 

A. Factual Background 

Lunschen has worked in construction for most of his life doing framing, siding, 

sheetrocking, and foundation work. In 1989, Lunschen injured his mid to lower back and missed 

work for almost seven months. When L&I benefits ended, he returned to work and resumed the 

same labor intensive work. 

In 2005, Lunschen was doing foundation work for RFK Construction. On January 17, he 

was shoveling concrete out of a Bobcat bucket and he injured his back. The next day he was 

unable to work. He experienced pain through his lower back and numbness in his left leg down to 

his foot. Lunschen was unable to work for nine weeks. He filed a claim with L&I and the claim 

was granted. During that time, he saw a chiropractor, Dr. Vernon Kaczmarski, and participated in 

some physical therapy treatment. 

After the nine weeks, Lunschen went back to the same job and worked for another three 

years until he was laid off in 2008 because ofthe economy. His L&I claim was closed on June 9, 

Here, Lunschen moved for summary judgment arguing that summary judgment was proper 
because there was no genuine dispute of material fact and "the Plaintifrs industrial related 
condition(s) objectively worsened or became aggravated between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 
2013 as a matter of law." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 285. In response, L&I argued there was sufficient 
evidence from which a reasonable juror could find Lunschen's condition did not objectively 
worsen. The court denied summary judgment because it determined there were genuine disputes 
of material fact as to Lunschen's condition, and Lunschen proceeded to trial on the same issue 
without first appealing. 

3 The testimony is from the hearing before the Board. When Lunschen appealed the denial of his 
claim to the Superior Court, a jury heard the same evidence as the Board. 
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20054 when he went back to work. The claim did not include a permanent partial disability award. 

Lunschen testified that when he went back to work his back was a little better but, "A back injury 

is something that just ... doesn't really just go away unless you have-I never wanted surgery or 

anything like that. . . . So I kind of just man up and took it and ate a lot of [A]sprins and 

[I]buprofen." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 109. He stated that he did not experience subsequent injuries 

after 2005 until2012. 

In May 2012, Lunschen was working in his home garden using a "claw" tool and felt his 

back "slip out." CP at 102. He could not get out of bed the next day. He experienced "tightness," 

he could not bend down, and he felt pain in his feet. CP at 102. He went back to Dr. Kaczmarski, 

but he did not have medical insurance. Due to the pain he could not go to the second floor of his 

house to sleep, and he slept on the floor because it was more comfortable. 

In June 2012, Lunschen applied to reopen his 2005 L&I claim. On the application he 

indicated by checking "yes" in box 17 that the injury was a result of a "new incident or injury." 

CP at 121. Lunschen testified that he did not understand the question and that he was informed by 

L&I that his response was the reason they denied his request to reopen his claim. He later 

submitted a declaration to L&I through his attorney that stated, "Unfortunately, I accidentally 

checked 'Yes' in the box on Question 17. However, I have not had any new injuries or illnesses 

since my claim closed." CP at 122. It further stated, "[M]y previous low back and left leg 

industrial injuries have naturally and progressively worsened over time, and I am now in need of 

further treatment." CP at 123. 

4 This is the first "terminal date." The "terminal dates" establish the time period between which a 
claimant must show aggravation. See Eastwood v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 152 Wn. App. 652, 
657-58 n.1, 219 P.3d 711 (2009). 
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In July, the pain was so severe that Lunschen's wife called an ambulance which took 

Lunschen to the hospital. When the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) heard the case, 

Lunschen continued to feel numbness in his left leg, down to his foot. He stated that he continued 

to experience pain but did not have insurance, so he used Advil and Aspirin. Lunschen could lift 

enough weight to take out the trash but he could not do the activities he formerly did, like mowing 

the lawn, cleaning gutters, and fishing. He believed the injury in 2012 was a result of the injury 

in 2005 because he suffered from the same kind of symptoms. 

B. Expert Testimony 

Dr. H. Richard Johnson, a licensed orthopedic surgeon, examined Lunschen and testified 

before the Board. He stated that Lunschen reported, "Low back pain, radiating into the lower 

extremities, with numbness and tingling in the left lateral and posterior thigh and calf," as well as, 

"low back pain that would radiate proximally to the base of the skull, associated with neck pain 

and stiffness." CP at 132-33. Dr. Johnson reviewed Lunschen's medical records and noted that a 

2005 x-ray of Lunschen' s back showed "evidence of diffuse degenerative changes in the lumbar 

spine."5 CP at 135. 

5 According to Dr. Johnson, "degenerative disc disease" is, 

(A] process in which the disc desiccates. In other words, there is loss of height of 
that disc because it dries out 

And when it dries out, it settles. And when it settles, it creates bulging at 
the edges, because what is being held tight by the water content of the disc, once 
that water content begins to be lost, then the disc settles. And when it settles, then 
you get bulging around the perimeter of the disc, of the outside of the disc. 

And with that comes abnormal motion, and abnormal motion results in the 
development of bone spurs, called traction osteophytes. In other words, the 
abnormal motion creates spur formation. 

CP at 161. 
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Dr. Johnson's review of the records showed Lunschen's pain did not subside from 

chiropractic treatment. Lunschen underwent an MRI and was referred to an orthopedic surgeon. 

Dr. Johnson stated that by comparing the 2005 and 2012 x-rays one could find "degenerative 

changes." CP at 140. However, Dr. Johnson was not provided with the x-rays themselves to 

review. He was merely referencing diagnostic studies and reports interpreted by another provider. 

According to Dr. Johnson, the changes were not the result of someone aging, which appear in a 

"symmetrical" pattern. CP at 141. They were consistent with previous trauma and showed as 

"asymmetrical." CP at 141. Dr. Johnson also commented on and disagreed with the conclusions 

of an independent medical exam (IME) ordered by L&I.6 According to Dr. Johnson, in that exam 

the finding was that Lunschen's back worsened, but not as a result of the 2005 injury. 

Dr. Johnson ultimately provided the opinion that 

[w]ith regards to the industrial injury of January 17, 2005, the records and detailed 
physical findings are consistent with the fact that the patient did sustain a h.unbar 
strain/sprain injury; that there also was aggravation or lighting up of preexisting 
diffuse lumbar spondylosis, or diffuse degenerative changes in the lumbar spine; 
that also there was evidence of annular tears of the annulus fibrosis at L4-L5 and 
L5-S 1 levels; and also the patient had findings consistent with left lumbar 
radiculopathy. 

6 According to one expert witness, an IME is, "[A]n exam done primarily for the purposes of 
answering specific questions regarding causality, need for further treatment, or permanent 
impairment, and usually it's done in conjunction with another provider, such as a chiropractor or 
orthopedic surgeon, and is not done in the aspect of treating the individual or making any other 
treatment recommendations." CP at 224-25. According to another expert witness the IME "is 
arranged by [L&I] or a lawyer or a judge asking for independent opinion concerning an injury and 
a medical condition that somebody is suffering from." CP at 253. He stated that the person 
conducting the exam is "provided medical records. The examination is about an hour in length. 
A chart review is done as part of that, usually before the hour begins. The Claimant is examined 
that day. And then questions are answered by the doctors who were doing the evaluation." CP at 
253 
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Following closure of his claim, he continued to experience episodic 
recurrent low back pain. But then there was the recent recurrence of left lumbar 
radiculopathy, as well as evidence of objective progression of the lumbar 
spondylosis, the degenerative changes in the lumbar spine that are of an asymmetric 
nature, the type seen posttraumatically rather than the type seen with the aging 
process. 

CP at 155-56. 

Dr. Johnson also stated that in his opinion, there was evidence 1unschen's condition 

"objectively worsened" between the 2005 injury and January 2013. CP at 156. 

During cross-examination, Dr. Johnson explained the 2012 incident was more related to 

the 2005 injury than to the 1989 injury. He relied on the difference in degenerative progression 

between the x-rays but also admitted he did not review any records from the 1989 injury. 

Dr. Kaczmarski also testified before the Board. He began treating 1unschen in 2005 after 

the back injury. Dr. Kaczmarski first diagnosed 1unschen with a lumbar strain, and recommended 

a course of treatment that returned 1unschen to work. However, when 1unschen's condition 

worsened, Dr. Kaczmarski recommended a new course of treatment. At the time, Dr. Kaczmarski 

reviewed an MRI that showed "degenerative changes throughout the spine, specifically 11 through 

13." CP at 189. The findings from the MRI were that Lunschen "had annular tearing at L4-15 

and at 15-81 [discs] with protrusion. But the one at the 15-81 was more prominent on the left." 

CP at 189. Before the Board, Dr. Kaczmarski stated that he was not aware Lunschen had prior 

industrial injuries but "wouldn't be surprised" to hear it. CP at 208. On May 7, 2005, Dr. 

Kaczmarski released Lunschen back to work with no restrictions. 

Dr. Kaczmarski saw Lunschen again after the 2012 injury. 1unschen reported "similar 

kind[s] of complaints of low back pain." CP at 193. Dr. Kaczmarski remarked that the x-rays 

from 2005 and the most recent injury were similar. He saw Lunschen approximately 27 times 

during the four months after the 2005 injury and 42 times after the 2012 injury. He was unaware 
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if Lunschen had experienced intensifying back pain prior to the 2012 injury. Dr. Kaczmarski 

opined that ifLunschen had not injured himself on May 29,2012, he would not have needed care. 

Dr. Kaczmarski disagreed with the finding of the IME that Lunschen's condition related to 

arthritis in his back. He stated that "[ o ]n a more-probable-than-not basis I am continuing to treat 

him for his 2005 injury." CP at 203. He further opined that Lunschen's industrial injury 

objectively worsened between 2005 and 2013. Dr. Kaczmarski relied on the x-rays from 2012 and 

"repeated orthopedic neurologic testing, consistent with low back pain and left-sided radiating leg 

pain." CP at 203. 

Dr. J. Greg Zoltani, a neurologist, and Dr. Allen Tanner, a chiropractor, performed the IME 

on Lunschen. The specific focus for the IME was "to determine if there was any objective 

worsening pertaining to [Lunschen's] industrial injury of January 17th, 2005." CP at 226-27. Dr. 

Zoltani testified that during Lunschen's examination, Dr. Zoltani observed "pain behavior."7 CP 

at 233. Dr. Zoltani opined that according to the records he reviewed, the 2005 injury was resolved 

when Lunschen returned to work. Dr. Zoltani projected that a strain or sprain normally took six 

to eight weeks to resolve. Dr. Zoltani further opined that Lunschen's condition did not objectively 

worsen between the 2005 and the 2012 injury. After hearing a description of how Lunschen 

injured himself in 2012, Dr. Zoltani testified that the 2012 injury was not related to the 2005 injury. 

He called it a "new injury." CP at 237. 

Dr. Tanner testified that he reviewed a number of records including Dr. Kaczmarski's final 

report from 2005. This report said, "[N]o permanent impairment was anticipated." CP at 259. 

Dr. Tanner concluded after reviewing the 2005 and 2012 x-rays that Lunschen had degenerative 

7 According to Dr. Zoltani, "pain behavior" is "behavior felt to be out of proportion to any activity 
or a portion of the exam that's being evaluated that seems out of proportion to what would be 
expected." CP at 233. 
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disc disease of the lumbar spine "pre-existing to [2005]." CP at 262. According to Dr. Tanner, 

degenerative disc disease is "arthritis of the [disc] spaces in the lumbar spine or thoracic or cervical 

spine. It also includes the facet joints that are separate from the [discs]." CP at 263. He opined 

that Lunschen's degenerative disc disease was a naturally progressing condition, separate from the 

2005 injury, and that the degeneration began before 2005 and had continued up to 2012. Dr. 

Tanner also opined that based on the records he reviewed, the industrial injury from 2005 did not 

worsen. 

C. Jury Instructions 

At the close of testimony, the court heard argument about jury instructions. Lunschen 

proposed jury instructions, at least two ofwhich related to aggravation theories. 

Lunschen' s proposed jury instruction 11 stated, "A claimant's aggravation of a pre-existing 

industrial injury condition is compensable when caused by the ordinary incidents of living which 

a person with the claimant's disability might reasonably be expected to be doing, since such an 

aggravation is attributable to the condition caused by the original injury." CP at 344. The 

instruction was based on McDougle v. Department of Labor & Industries, 64 Wn.2d 640,393 P.2d 

631 (1964). 

Lunschen' s proposed jury instruction 15 stated, 

You are instructed that if any injury lights up or makes active a latent or 
quiescent infirmity or weakened condition, whether congenital or developmental, 
then the resulting disability is to be attributed to the injury and not to the preexisting 
condition. Under such circumstances, if the accident or injury complained of is a 
proximate cause of the disability for which compensation or benefits is sought, then 
the previous physical condition of the workman is immaterial and recovery may be 
received for the full disability, independent of any preexisting or congenital 
weakness. 

CP at 348. The instruction cited Wendt v. Dept. of Labor & Industries, 18 Wn. App. 674, 571 P. 

2d 229 (1977). 
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The court declined to give both instructions. Regarding Instruction 11, the court ruled, "I 

don't think that the situation as you've outlined it in Proposed No. 11 applies here because there 

was no prior disability, and so I will not be giving No. 11 ." 3 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 155. 

As to Instruction 15, the court stated, "I just don't think that this is a lighting up case as it's 

contemplated in [Wendt]." 3 RP at 168-69. The court further reasoned that this case was "an 

aggravation of an industrial injury" and as a result, aggravation instructions were proper. 3 RP at 

169. Lunschen excepted to the court's failure to give instructions 11 and 15 asserting, "[T]hey are 

basically the argument of our entire case." 3 RP at 171. 

The trial court instructed the jury regarding the Board's findings of fact. The instntction 

read in part, "By informing you of these findings the court does not intend to express any opinion 

on the correctness or incorrectness ofthe Board's findings." CP at 361. The court also instructed 

the jury that, 

The findings and decision of the [Board] are presumed correct. This 
presumption is rebuttable, and it is for you to determine whether it is rebutted by 
the evidence. The burden of proof is on Thomas A. Lunschen to establish by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the decision is incorrect. 

When it is said that a party has the burden of proof on any proposition, or 
that any proposition must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence, or the 
expression "if you find" is used, it means that you must be persuaded, considering 
all the evidence in the case, that the proposition on which that party has the burden 
of proof is more probably true than not true. 

CP at 362. 

The trial court further instructed that, 

Lunschen claims that the findings and decision of the Board are incorrect in that: 
Plaintiff Lunschen contends that his medical condition related to the 

industrial injury has worsened or become "aggravated" to such an extent that he is 
in need of additional medical treatment and he also contends that his industrially­
related condition is more disabling than it was at claim closure on June 9, 2005. 

CP at 363. 
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Regarding the prior industrial injury claim, the court instructed the jury: 

This is an aggravation case. When Plaintiff . . . Lunschen' s claim was 
closed on June 9, 2005, it was detennined that there was no permanent partial 
disability resulting from the industrial injury. That detennination is binding on all 
parties. 

"Aggravation" means a worsening of a condition caused by the industrial 
injury that results in a need for further treatment. 

The aggravation period in this case is from June 9, 2005 to January 4, 2013. 

CP at 366. 

The special verdict form asked the jury, "Was the [Board] correct in deciding that Mr. 

Lunschen's industrially related condition, proximately caused by the industrial injury of January 

17, 2005, did not objectively worsen between June 9, 2005, and January 4, 2013?" CP at 382. 

The jury answered the question, "Yes." CP at 3 82. The court entered its judgment in accord with 

the jury verdict. It affirmed the Board's April 22, 2014 order, which sustained L&I's January 4, 

2013 order to deny Lunschen' s claim. 

II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

On August 21,2012, L&I declined to reopen Lunschen's claim because it found his current 

need for treatment related to a "new injury or exposure." CP at 63. Lunschen petitioned for 

reconsideration. On January 4, 2013,8 L&I issued a notice stating it had reconsidered the August 

21 order, detennined it was correct, and affinned. Lunschen appealed the decision to the Board. 

The Board agreed to hear the appeal. The Board considered the following issue: "Did Mr. 

Lunschen's condition(s) proximately caused by his industrial injury worsen between June 9, 2005 

and January 4, 2013?" CP at 75. 

8 January 4 is the second "terminal date." 
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On February 20, 2014, the Board signed an order with the following findings of fact: 

1. On April 9, 2013, an industrial appeals judge certified that the parties agreed to 
include the Jurisdictional History in the Board record solely for jurisdictional 
purposes. 

2. Thomas A. Lunschen sustained an industrial injury on January 17,2005, when 
he was shoveling cement from a Bobcat bucket and he sustained a low back strain 
that caused pain and a pinch in his low back. 

3. On June 9, 2005, Mr. Lunschen had no objective findings and no permanent 
partial disability proximately caused by the industrial injury. 

4. On January 4, 2013, Thomas A. Lunschen had no objective findings and no 
permanent partial disability proximately caused by the industrial injury. 

5. Mr. Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the industrial injury did not 
objectively worsen between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013. 

6. Mr. Lunschen's condition diagnosed as degenerative disc disease was not 
proximately caused or aggravated by the industrial injury between June 9, 2005 and 
January4, 2013. 

7 Mr. Lunschen sustained an intervening injury on May 29, 2012, while working 
in his garden using a tool with handles and prongs that required a twisting motion 
to remove weeds and loosen soil and while doing so he injured his low back. 

CP at 60-61. The Board concluded, "Between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013, Mr. Lunschen's 

condition proximately caused by the industrial injury did not objectively worsen within the 

meaning ofRCW 51.32.160." CP 61. It also affirmed the L&I order. 

Lunschen filed a petition for review and contested findings 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7, as well as 

conclusions 2 and 3. On April22, 2014, the Board denied the petition and in so doing, affirmed 

the findings of fact, conclusions oflaw, and order from February 20, 2014. 

Lunschen then appealed the Board's April 22, 2014 decision and order to the superior 

court. He filed a motion for summary judgment asserting that summary judgment was proper 

because there was no genuine dispute of material fact and "the Plaintiffs industrially related 

condition(s) objectively worsened or became aggravated between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 
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2013 as a matter of law." CP at 285. He argued that he was entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law under McDougle, 64 Wn.2d 640. In response, L&I argued there was sufficient evidence from 

which a reasonable juror could find Lunschen's condition did not objectively worsen. 

The court held a hearing on the motion for summary judgment on February 20, 2015. The 

superior court denied Lunschen's motion for summary judgment. The court ruled, "There are 

material facts in dispute in regard to the issues in this matter; therefore[,] the Plaintiff is not entitled 

to summary judgment." CP at 387. 

On March 9, 2015, the case proceeded to a jury trial. The jury returned a verdict in favor 

of L&I and the superior court entered judgment on March 27 affirming the Board's decision. 

Lunschen appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE 

Lunschen argues that the Board erred by entering findings of fact 3, 4, and 5, as well as 

conclusion of law 2. We do not review the Board's findings and conclusions but instead the 

superior court's judgment. We affirm the superior court. 

A. Standard of Review and Legal Principles 

"Appellate review of claims filed under the [Washington Industrial Insurance Act (IIA)] is 

fairly limited." Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870,880,288 P.3d 390 (2012). 

Our review of a worker compensation case "is akin to our review of any other superior court trial 

judgment: 'review is limited to examination of the record to see whether substantial evidence 

supports the findings made after the superior court's de novo review, and whether the court's 

conclusions of law flow from the findings."' Rogers v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. App. 

174, 180,210 P.3d 355 (2009) (citations omitted) (quoting Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 138 
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Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999)). Substantial evidence is evidence in the record sufficient to 

persuade a fair-minded, rational person that the premise is true. Lewis v. Simpson Timber Co., 145 

Wn. App. 302, 322, 189 P .3d 178 (2008). 

We review for sufficient or substantial evidence, taking the record in the light most 

favorable to the party who prevailed in superior court. Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 180-81. We do 

not "reweigh or rebalance the competing testimony and inferences, or [] apply anew the burden of 

persuasion." Harrison Mem 'l Hosp. v. Gagnon, 110 Wn. App. 475, 485, 40 P.3d 1221 (2002). 

We review the superior court's conclusions of law de novo. Hill v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 161 

Wn. App. 286, 292, 253 P.3d 430 (2011). 

The superior court's review of the Board's decision is de novo. RCW 51.52.115; Hill, 161 

Wn. App. at 291. The superior court does not hear new evidence or live witnesses but instead, the 

evidence before the Board is presented to the superior court. RCW 51.52.115. "[C]ounsel for the 

litigants adopt unique 'role playing' capacities and 'read' their respective parts to the jury, in the 

same manner as they would when reading a witness' deposition." Lewis, 145 Wn. App. at 316 

(citations omitted) (quoting Buffelen Woodworking Co. v. Cook, 28 Wn. App. 501, 503-04, 625 

P.2d 703 (1981 )). In the case of a jury trial, the jury is instructed on the findings of the Board on 

each material issue. RCW 51.52.115. The findings and decision of the Board are prima facie 

correct and the burden is on the challenging party to support its claim by a preponderance of the 

evidence. RCW 51.52.115; Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 179-80. 

Under the IIA, a claimant must establish four elements to reopen an industrial injury claim 

on the basis of aggravation. RCW 51.32.160(1)(a); Eastwood v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 152 

Wn. App. 652, 657-58, 219 P.3d 711 (2009). The claimant must establish by medical testimony 

and some objective symptoms: (1) a "causal relationship between the injury and the subsequent 
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disability"; (2) aggravation of the injury resulting in increased disability; (3) an increased 

aggravation between "the terminal dates of the aggravation period"; and, ( 4) a showing that the 

"disability on the date of closing the order was greater than the supervisor found it to be." 

Eastwood, 152 Wn. App. at 657-58 (footnote omitted) (quoting Phillips v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 

49 Wn.2d 195, 197, 298 P.2d 1117 (1956)). 

B. Jury Verdict 

Lunschen first contends that the Board's determination that he had no objective findings in 

his 2005 industrial injury and that he had no permanent partial disability as a result of the 2005 

injury was incorrect based on the evidence presented. However, we do not review the Board's 

findings. 9 Aithough the Board's findings are presumed correct, the trial court did not instruct the 

jury that they had to accept the findings as true. Our role is to review the superior court's findings 

for sufficient or substantial evidence and to determine if the evidence supports the conclusions of 

law. Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 180. We do not review specific findings of the Board. 

Lunschen next argues that the medical evidence, taken as a whole, shows that the Board's 

finding of fact 5 and conclusion of law 2 are incorrect. In finding of fact 5, the Board stated, "Mr. 

Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the industrial injury did not objectively worsen 

between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013." CP at 60. In conclusion of law 2, the Board stated, 

9 Lunschen also argues that the Board improperly considered whether he had permanent partial 
disability because it was not an issue before the Board. He argues, "It is inappropriate for the 
Board to detennine, in the light of res judicata effect of closures, that Mr. Lunschen did not have 
an increase in permanent partial disability when he merely alleged a worsening of his condition 
and requested treatment." Br. of Appellant at 27. This does not appear to be a part of the 
Lunschen's appeal to the superior court, and therefore, is also not an issue for us to consider. See 
RCW 51.52.140 ("Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil 
cases."); RAP 2.5(a). 
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"Between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013, Mr. Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the 

industrial injury did not objectively worsen within the meaning ofRCW 51.32.160." CP at 61. 

The jury was asked one question by special verdict form: "Was the Board ... correct in 

deciding that Mr. Lunschen's industrially related condition, proximately caused by the industrial 

injury of January 17, 2005, did not objectively worsen between June 9, 2005, and January 4, 

2013?" CP at 382. In answer to the question the jury responded, "Yes." CP at 382. We do not 

review the Board directly, we review the superior court. However, in this instance, the Board's 

finding and conclusion is the same as the superior court's jury verdict. Therefore, despite the 

incorrect framing of the issue, we will review the superior court's verdict for substantial 

evidence. 10 

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to L&l, the prevailing party, substantial 

evidence supports the jury's verdict. See Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 180-81. Dr. Kaczmarski 

released Lunschen back to work in 2005 without any limitations. After Lunschen returned to work, 

he resumed his previous job for three years until he was laid off. Lunschen stated he did not 

10 Lunschen explains his reasoning for assigning error to the Board's findings in his reply brief. 
He stated that when the jury answered "yes" to the question presented, it adopted all of the Board's 
findings. We review the superior court action here as we would any superior court judgment. See 
Jenkins v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 85 Wn. App. 7, 13, 931 P.2d 907(1996) (stating the jury was 
not bound by the findings in this case if it found other evidence more persuasive). The jury 
instructions specifically instructed the jury to presume the findings were correct unless Lunschen 
disproved them by a preponderance of the evidence. We understand Lunschen's reasoning but 
disagree with his request to analyze the Board's findings. 
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experience subsequent injuries after 2005 until he hurt himself gardening in 2012. When 

Lunschen's claim closed in 2005 it did not include a finding of any type of permanent disability. 11 

Dr. Kaczmarski testified that if Lunschen had not suffered an injury in 2012 he would not have 

required care. 

Additionally, both Dr. Zoltani and Dr. Tanner concluded that the 2012 injury was a new 

injury and that Lunschen's 2005 injury did not objectively worsen. Dr. Zoltani stated that a back 

strain or sprain normally resolves after six to eight weeks and that Lunschen's injury was resolved 

when he returned to work in 2005. Dr. Tanner concluded that Lunschen had degenerative disc 

disease of the lumbar spine that preexisted the 2005 injury. He stated that the degeneration began 

before 2005 and continued up to 2012. 

While Dr. Johnson and Dr. Kaczmarski opined that worsening occurred between the 

terminal dates, other testimony supports a different fmding. 12 Lunschen appears to be inviting us 

to reweigh the evidence and reassess the credibility of the witnesses. We decline this invitation. 

Sufficient evidence exists in the record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person that Lunschen's 

condition did not worsen between the terminal dates. 

11 Lunschen argues that this is not illustrative of his condition because "ratable permanent partial 
disability awards begin at 5%. Therefore, a person can have a permanent partial disability of less 
than 5% without it ever being codified at the closure of [a] claim." Br. of Appellant at 26. First, 
Lunschen provides no support for this assertion. Second, in the context of sufficiency of the 
evidence, we look at the entire record to determine whether the jury had substantial evidence to 
reach its verdict. Therefore, whether or not this is true does not have an impact on the validity of 
the jury's verdict. 

12 Lunschen argues that Dr. Kaczmarski's testimony is entitled to special consideration. The trial 
court instructed the jury in accord with this precept. The instruction stated, "You should give 
special consideration to testimony given by an attending physician. Such special consideration 
does not require you to give greater weight or credibility to, or to believe or disbelieve, such 
testimony. It does require that you give any such testimony careful thought in your deliberations." 
CP at 372. However, we do not reweigh the evidence or reassess the jury's credibility 
determinations. 
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Additionally, the jury's verdict supports the superior court's ultimate decision to affirm the 

Board. To reopen his claim on an aggravation theory, Lunschen was required to demonstrate a 

causal relationship between his 2005 injury and his 2012 injury, i.e., an aggravation of the injury, 

and that the worsening warranted further treatment. Eastwood, 152 Wn. App. at 657-58. The jury 

rejected Lunschen's argument that his condition objectively worsened between the two injuries. 

Lunschen did not prove aggravation and the superior court did not err by affirming the Board's 

order. 

II. JURY INSTRUCTIONS 

Lunschen argues that the court erred by declining to give two of his proposed instructions. 

He contends that the court prevented him from fully arguing his theory of the case. We disagree. 

A. Standard of Review 

A trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury instruction is a discretionary decision that we 

review for abuse of discretion. In re Det. of Pouncy, 168 Wn.2d 382, 390, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). 

We review jury instruction rulings based on errors of law de novo. Tuttle v. Allstate Ins. Co., 134 

Wn. App. 120, 131, 138 P.3d 1107 (2006). Jury instructions are sufficient if substantial evidence 

supports them, they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, and they properly inform 

the jury of the applicable law. Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 

(1996). 

A trial court is under no obligation to give inaccurate or misleading instructions. Jaeger v. 

Cleaver Constr., Inc., 148 Wn. App. 698, 716, 201 P.3d 1028 (2009). A trial court has broad 

discretion to determine the number and specific language of the instructions to be given and 

whether definitional instructions are necessary. Bodin, 130 Wn.2d at 732. An error on jury 

instructions requires reversal only if it is prejudicial. Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498-99, 925 
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P.2d 194 (1996). Although the IIA is generally liberally constmed in favor of the worker, we do 

not constme the statute liberally where factual sufficiency is at issue. Cooper v. Dep 't of Labor & 

Indus., 188 Wn. App. 641, 648,352 P.3d 189 (2015). 

B. Proposed Jury Instruction 15-Lighting Up 

Lunschen argues that the court's declining to give his proposed instruction 15, deprived 

him of arguing his "lighting up" theory. Br. of Appellant at 36. He contends that he was entitled 

to the instruction because his expert witnesses testified that his degenerative disc disease was lit 

up by the 2005 injury and that this predisposed him to later re-injure his back. 13 Because 

Lunschen's prior back condition was not latent but was symptomatic prior to 2005, Lunschen was 

not entitled to a "lighting up" instruction. 

A "lighting up" instruction is appropriate where an industrial injury lit up or "made 

symptomatic the preexisting and previously quiescent or asymptomatic" condition. Wendt, 18 Wn. 

App. at 678. "A claimant is entitled to [the] jury instruction where the evidence supports that (1) 

the preexisting condition was latent, not symptomatic, and (2) the industrial injury proximately 

caused the current disability, regardless of a preexisting condition." Cooper, 188 Wn. App. at 648. 

"[A] preexisting condition is not 'lit up' if the weight of the evidence reveals[:] (1) that the 

condition was symptomatic before the workplace event, or (2) the condition was a naturally 

progressing condition that would have progressed to symptoms without the injury." Zavala v. 

13 At trial, Lunschen argued that the 2012 injury could have "lit up" the previous 2005 injury. 3 
RP at 167. The court declined to give Lunschen's proposed instruction, stating, "I just don't think 
that this is a lighting up case as it's contemplated in [Wendt]." 3 RP at 168-69. The court further 
reasoned the "scenario which we have here ... is not a lighting up of a quiescent condition, but an 
aggravation of an industrial injury." 3 RP at 169. The argument at trial is different from the one 
he makes on appeal. Although we need not consider the issue, See Wallace Real Estate Inv., Inc. 
v. Groves, 72 Wn. App. 759, 772 n.7, 868 P.2d 149 (1994) affd, 124 Wn.2d 881, 881 P.2d 1010 
(1994) (stating that because an argument was not raised below, it could not be raised on appeal), 
we exercise our discretion address it on the merits. RAP 1.2 
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Twin City Foods, 185 Wn. App. 838, 862,343 P.3d 761 (2015) (following Austin v. Dep 'tofLabor 

& Indus., 6 Wn. App. 394, 398,492 P.2d 1382 (1971)). 

Lunschen' s proposed jury instruction cited Wendt, 18 Wn. App. at 677, and read as follows, 

You are instructed that if any injury lights up or makes active a latent or 
quiescent infirmity or weakened condition, whether congenital or developmental, 
then the resulting disability is to be attributed to the injury and not to the preexisting 
condition. Under such circumstances, if the accident or injury complained of is a 
proximate cause of the disability for which compensation or benefits is sought, then 
the previous physical condition of the workman is immaterial and recovery may be 
received for the full disability, independent of any preexisting or congenital 
weakness. 

CP at 348. 

Lunschen argues on appeal that his case is factually similar to Wendt, 18 Wn. App. at 677. 

In Wendt, a claimant with a previously asymptomatic arthritic condition and a previous industrial 

injury applied to reopen his closed L&I claim because he had become permanently and totally 

disabled as a result of aggravation of his condition. 18 Wn. App at 675. We concluded the 

claimant's industrial injury could have made symptomatic the claimant's previously asymptomatic 

arthritic condition. Wendt, 18 Wn. App. at 677-79. We also concluded that the "lit up" arthritic 

condition, caused by the prior injury, may have predisposed the claimant to the later injury he 

suffered and that because ofthe "lighting up," the jury might have found that he was more disabled 

than when his prior claim closed. Wendt, 18 Wn. App. at 677-79. We held that a "lighting up" 

instruction should be given where there is substantial evidence to support it because the theory 

may well be "esoteric" to a jury and to be explained as a general instruction would notsuffice. 18 

Wn. App. at 676,679. 

Lunschen asserts that his case is like Wendt because expert testimony suggested the 

degenerative disc disease was not a result of natural progression but because of the 2005 injury. 

However, expert testimony did not provide evidence to support the "lighting up" theory. Lunschen 
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does not argue, and the evidence does not establish, what Lunschen's back condition was prior to 

2005, much less whether Lunschen's back condition prior to 2005 was asymptomatic or would not 

have naturally progressed. Lunschen's case is dissimilar from Wendt because there is no clearly 

established prior condition and no testimony to show the condition was latent. 

Instead, the evidence related to Lunschen's prior back injury established that he seriously 

injured his mid to low back in 1989 and was out of work for almost seven months. Lunschen 

continued to experience flare ups oflow back pain associated with labor-intensive work and could 

generally resolve the pain by resting overnight. When Lunschen completed the application to 

reopen his claim in 2012, he first indicated that the injury was a new incident or injury, but then 

submitted a declaration stating he mistakenly filled out the form and had not had any new injuries 

or illnesses since his claim closed. He further stated, "[M]y previous low back and left leg 

industrial injuries have naturally and progressively worsened over time, and I am now in need of 

further treatment." CP at 123. 

Dr. Kaczmarski stated that Lunschen's condition did not relate to the arthritis in his back. 

Testimony also showed that Lunschen's degenerative disc disease was a naturally progressing 

condition, separate from the 2005 injury. Dr. Tanner stated that Lunschen's degenerative disc 

disease began before 2005 and continued up to 2012. 

Lunschen did not provide sufficient evidence to establish he had a previous latent condition 

that was made symptomatic by the 2005 injury. We concludethatLunschen's case is unlike Wendt 

and that the superior court did not abuse its discretion in deciding so. The court did not abuse its 

discretion by declining to instruct on "lighting up." 
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C. Proposed Jury Instruction 11-Normal Incidents of Daily Living 

Lunschen further argues that the court deprived him of arguing another prong in his defense 

strategy, that the aggravation was caused by "normal incidents of every day." Br. of Appellant at 

4, 36. He contends that he provided sufficient evidence to entitle him to his proposed instruction. 

Because whether Lunschen had a disability caused by an industrial injury was a genuine issue of 

fact at his trial, he was not entitled to the instruction. 

Lunschen's proposed instruction relied on the test articulated in McDougle, 64 Wn.2d 640. 

In that case, a claimant sought to reopen his claim for a preexisting industrial injury. McDougle, 

64 Wn.2d at 642. L&I previously closed his claim with a permanent partial disability award. 

McDougle, 64 Wn.2d at 641. The court concluded that because the later injury occurred while 

McDougle was performing tasks that were reasonable for a person with his disability, he was 

entitled to reopen the claim. McDougle, 64 Wn.2d at 644. 

The test for aggravation established in McDougle is as follows: 

Aggravation of the claimant's condition caused by the ordinary incidents of 
living-by work which he could be expected to do; by sports or activities in which 
he could be expected to participate-is compensable because it is attributable to the 
condition caused by the original injury. 

64 Wn.2d at 644 (emphasis added). 

The case came up for appellate review a second time in Scott Paper Co. v. Dep 't of Labor 

& Indus., 73 Wn.2d 840, 440 P.2d 818 (1968). In that case, the court addressed the claimant's 

employer's argument that the claimant should have known to avoid certain activity be'cause of his 

own understanding of his disability. Scott Paper, 73 Wn.2d at 847. It clarified the rule from 

McDougle stating, 

It is thus apparent that, in construing the test we set forth in [McDougle], 
when we said, "whether it is something that one with his disability would not 
reasonably be expected to be doing" (italics ours), they have mistakenly assumed 
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we were speaking of claimant's subjective personally known condition as of the 
date of the aggravation instead of the department-established disability, i.e. 30 per 
cent permanent partial disability. 

We, therefore, hold that, when subjected to the proper criteria, claimant's 
conduct was such as could reasonably be expected of a man with his disability. 

Scott Paper, 73 Wn.2d at 847-48. In Scott Paper, the court also defined "disability" as, "'[T]he 

impairment of the workman's mental or physical efficiency. It embraces any loss of physical or 

mental functions which detracts from the former efficiency of the individual in the ordinary 

pursuits of life.'" 73 Wn.2d at 842 (quoting Henson v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 15 Wn.2d 384, 

391, 130 P.2d 885 (1942)}. 

The McDougle test applies to an established disability, not an individual's subjective 

known condition. "[W]hether a claimant's conduct is reasonably expected is determined by 

whether the claimant's conduct is 'such as could reasonably be expected of a man with his 

[department-established] disability,' not the claimant's 'subjective personally known condition as 

of the date of the aggravation.'" Shirley, 171 Wn. App. at 883 (emphasis in original) (quoting 

Scott Paper, 73 Wn.2d at 848). 

Lunschen's proposed instruction read, "A claimant's aggravation of a pre-existing 

industrial injury condition is compensable when caused by the ordinary incidents of living which 

a person with the claimant's disability might reasonably be expected to be doing, since such an 

aggravation is attributable to the condition caused by the original injury." CP at 344. 

Lunschen argues that the McDougle court did not intend "disability" to be interpreted as 

"ratable impairment," and thus, he was not required to receive an award of permanent partial 

disability to be entitled to the McDougle instruction. Br. of Appellant at 41. He argues he should 
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get the instruction because "but for" his injury in 2005, he would not have injured himself in the 

garden, "participating in his normal activities of daily living."14 Br. of Appellant at 39. 

Because Lunschen was not awarded permanent partial disability, whether or not he had a 

condition or disability was a disputed fact. Lunschen needed to establish a "condition" or 

"disability" by expert medical testimony. The instruction he requested, presumed a disability 

existed. However, whether the disability existed was a contested issue. As such, we conclude 

that the McDougle instruction should only be given if the claimant has previously established a 

disability or condition resulting from the original industrial injury. Because that is unequivocally 

not the case here, Lunschen was not entitled to the instruction. A superior court is under no 

obligation to give a misleading instruction or an instruction unsupported by the evidence. Jaeger, 

148 Wn. App. at 716. We conclude that the superior court did not abuse its discretion by declining 

to give the instruction. 

III. ATTORNEY FEES 

Lunschen requests attorney fees. RAP 18.1 provides for attorney fees and costs on appeal 

if "applicable law grants to a party the right to recover" and the fees and costs are properly 

requested in the parties' opening briefs. RAP 18.1 (a)-(b ). A party requesting attorney fees must 

"devote a section of its opening brief to the request for the fees or expenses." RAP 18.1 (b). 

Lunschen does not designate a section of his brief to his request for fees. Instead, he 

requests attorney fees in the last three paragraphs of his conclusion. He does cite to the rules and 

provide some argument. Regardless, Lunschen requests attorney fees under RCW 51.52.130. 

14 L&I argues that it is "[w]ell-established case law" that the McDougle test applies only when 
L&l closes a claim with an award of permanent partial disability. Br. ofResp't at 31. Lunschen 
was not entitled to the instruction because whether he had a disability was at issue. Therefore, we 
do not reach whether or not L&I is correct that the test only applies when there is a permanent 
partial disability award. 
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RCW 51.52.130 states that "[i]f, on appeal to the superior or appellate court from the decision and 

order of the board, said decision and order is reversed or modified and additional relief is granted 

to a worker or beneficiary ... a reasonable fee for the services of the worker's ... attorney shall 

be fixed by the court." Therefore, Lunschen is not entitled to attorney fees. 

We affirm. 

A majority of the panel having determined tpat this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

~~'--
Melnick, J. w 

We concur: 

_rA~e-ffrt't. 1~. -
Sutton,J. M 
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